IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,))
Plaintiff and Appellant,)) Case No. S223763
vs.)
MARIO ALBERTO GONZALEZ,	SUPREME COURT FINE COURT
Defendant and Respondent.	
	Frank A. McCourse Crerk
	Deputy

Fourth Appellate District, Division Two, Case No. E059859 Riverside County Superior Court, Case No. INF1300854 Honorable William S. Lebov, Judge

RESPONDENT'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Counsel for Respondent: JENNIFER A. GAMBALE (CA Bar#174170)

111 Pacifica, Suite 120 Irvine, CA 92618

TEL: (949) 825-6533

Email: Jennifera.gambale@cox.net

By appointment of the California Supreme Court

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

QUESTION PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Can a criminal threat be committed by mere gesture alone and without the exchange of any words, oral or written, between the two parties?

INTRODUCTION

Mario Gonzalez, defendant and respondent herein, never said a word. He never uttered a sound or made any verbal noise whatsoever. Despite this fact, he was charged by way of information with five counts of criminal threats, all because he pointed his finger to the sky – not toward any person – and allegedly simulated a gun with his hand as he drove out of a parking lot.

Mr. Gonzalez filed a motion pursuant to Penal Code section 995¹ asking the trial court to set aside the information on the grounds no evidence was presented that he verbally threatened anyone. The trial court granted his motion and dismissed all counts of criminal threats.

The Court of Appeal reversed the trial court's order, concluding that notwithstanding the language of section 422, the crime of criminal threats encompasses nonverbal gestures.

The appellate court's decision was in error. Section 422, subdivision (a) requires that a criminal threat be made "verbally, in writing, or by means of an electronic communication device." Mr. Gonzalez made no such threat. He urges this Court to overrule the opinion of the Court of Appeal below and find that a criminal threat cannot be committed by mere gesture alone.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

An information filed on June 17, 2013 charged defendant, Mario Gonzalez, with five felony counts of making criminal threats [Counts 1 through 5], in violation of section 422, two misdemeanor counts of challenging another person to fight in a public place [Counts 6 and 7], in violation of section 415, subdivision (I), and one misdemeanor count of disobeying the terms of an injunction [Count 8], in violation of section 166, subdivision (a), subsection (10). (CT: 112-117.) The information further

All further references are to the Penal Code unless otherwise stated.

alleged that Counts 1 through 7 were committed for the benefit of a criminal street gang, in violation of section 186.22, and that petitioner suffered three prior felony convictions as prior prison terms, within the meaning of section 667.5, subdivision (b), and a prior serious and violent felony conviction within the meaning of sections 667, subdivision (c) and (e)(1) and 1170.12, subdivision (c)(1). (CT: 112-117.)

On August 9, 2013 Mr. Gonzalez filed a Motion to Set Aside the Information pursuant to section 995. (CT: 122-130.) His motion was based in large part on *People v. Franz* (2001) 88 Cal.App.4th 1426, 1442 in which the Third District Court of Appeal held section 422 requires a criminal threat to be "made verbally,' i.e., that defendant orally made some noise or sound that was capable of conveying meaning." On August 23, 2013 the court granted the motion and dismissed counts 1 through 7. (CT: 147; RT: 7.) Thereafter, Mr. Gonzalez pled guilty to Count 8. (CT: 149; RT:9.)

Appellant appealed, arguing, among other things, that the ruling in *Franz* was both inapplicable to the case at hand and flawed. The Court of Appeal agreed and reversed the trial court's order setting aside counts 1 through 7. (*People v. Gonzalez* (2014) 232 Cal.App.4th 151.) On March 18 2005, this Court granted review of the issue described above.

STATEMENT OF RELEVANT FACTS

On March 24, 2013, John Doe #1, an officer with the Cathedral City Police

Department, met his girlfriend, Jane Doe #1, and three other co-workers and friends,

John Doe #2, Jane Doe #2, and Jane Doe #3, at Restaurant Tapatio in Indio. (RT: 25, 26, 31.) While eating, both John Doe #1 and #2 recognized another restaurant patron, Michelle Franco ("Franco"), who was seated with some male Hispanics. (RT: 28, 41.) John Doe #1 walked to the restroom and smiled at Franco as he passed her table. (RT: 29.)

When John Doe #1 returned to his table, he noticed that a couple of the males eating with Franco were staring at him. (RT: 29.) The males looked at John Doe #1 and his table in an "intimidating way." (RT: 47.) John Doe #1 continued to watch the table and eventually saw Franco and the males leave the restaurant. (RT: 31.) As they left, the males continued to stare in his direction. (RT: 31.) John Doe #1 stared back. (RT: 32.)

John Doe #1 watched through the restaurant window and saw the two males enter a white, Ford Excursion that was parked in the restaurant's lot. (RT: 32.) The car backed out of its space, toward the vehicle of John Doe #1. (RT: 32, 64.)² John Doe #1 thought the occupants of the Excursion possibly recognized his car or were checking license plates to see what car he drove. (RT: 34.) The excursion then pulled forward and out of the lot. (RT: 31.) As it passed by the front window, the right, front passenger, later identified as Mario Gonzalez ("Mr. Gonzalez"), made a Jackson Terrace gang sign with his hand. (RT: 37, 38.) He also pointed his finger in the air

². Video surveillance from the restaurant camera clearly showed that the Excursion did not reverse or "circle" the parking lot, as John Doe #1claimed. (RT: 64.)

toward the ceiling, allegedly simulating a gun. (RT: 33, 39, 41-42.) John Doe #1 and John Doe #2 both saw this gesture and feared for the safety of themselves and their friends and coworkers. (RT: 33, 41-42.) Jane Does #1, #2, and #3 did not see any gesture made by Mr. Gonzalez. (RT: 48, 51, 52.)

John Doe #1 next spotted the Excursion on Indio Boulevard in front of the restaurant. (RT: 35.) John Doe #1 and John Doe #2 saw the driver, later identified as Antonio Franco, simulate a gun with his hand and point it in his direction. (RT: 35.) The driver also made a slashing sign across his neck. (RT: 35.) These actions again scared both John Doe #1 and John Doe #2. (RT: 36, 42.)

No words were ever exchanged – orally or written – between the two groups.

(RT: 76.)

ARGUMENT

I.

A CRIMINAL THREAT CANNOT BE COMMITTED BY A MERE GESTURE ALONE AND WITHOUT THE EXCHANGE OF ANY WORDS, ORAL OR WRITTEN, BETWEEN THE TWO PARTIES.

The facts of the present case are undisputed. Mr. Gonzalez said not a word and uttered not a sound to any of the alleged victims. The language of section 422 clearly and unambiguously requires that a threatening statement be made either orally, in writing, or by electronic communication. A simple gesture will not suffice. Because

Mr. Gonzalez said nothing, he did not commit and could not have committed any criminal threat.

Moreover, even if the statutory language is ambiguous, Mr. Gonzalez still did not commit any criminal threat. The legislative history of section 422, as well as the wording of related statutes, demonstrates a criminal threat cannot be committed by gesture alone.

A. General Principles of Statutory Construction.

The basic principles of statutory construction are well established. The primary goal of a reviewing court is to ascertain the intent of the enacting body and thereby adopt the construction that best effectuates the purpose of the law. (See, e.g., *People v. Albillar* (2010) 51 Cal.4th 47, 55; *City of Santa Monica v. Gonzalez* (2008) 43 Cal.4th 905, 919.) In doing so, the court will "first examine the words of the statute, 'giving them their ordinary and usual meaning and viewing them in their statutory context, because the statutory language is usually the most reliable indicator of legislative intent." (*City of Santa Monica v. Gonzalez, supra,* 43 Cal.4th at p. 919.) Thereafter, "[i]f the language of the statute is not ambiguous, the plain meaning controls and resort to extrinsic sources to determine the Legislature's intent is unnecessary." (*People v. Albillar, supra,* 51 Cal.4th at p. 55, quoting *People v. Traylor* (2009) 46 Cal.4th 1205, 1212.)

Where, however, an ambiguity exists, the courts may resort to legislative history and other extrinsic evidence and principles of statutory construction in an attempt to resolve the ambiguity:

[I]f the terms of the statute provide no definitive answer, then courts may resort to extrinsic sources, including the objects to be achieved. . . When the statutory language is ambiguous, the court may examine the context in which the language appears, adopting the construction that best harmonizes the statute internally and with related statutes. . . Both the legislative history of the statute and the wider historical circumstances of its enactment may be considered in ascertaining the legislative intent.

(County of Santa Clara v. Perry (1998) 18 Cal.4th 435, 442 (citations omitted).)

There is no rule of strict construction of penal statutes in California. (Pen. Code, § 4; *People v. Bamberg* (2009) 175 Cal.App.4th 618, 627.) However, the rule of lenity will apply in case of ambiguity. (*People v. Avery* (2002) 27 Cal.4th 49, 57 ["....when a statute is capable of two reasonable interpretations, the appellate court should ordinarily adopt that interpretation more favorable to the defendant."].)

B. Section 422 is Not Ambiguous.

Section 422, subdivision (a) provides:

Any person who willfully threatens to commit a crime which will result in death or great bodily injury to another person, with the specific intent that the *statement*, *made verbally*, *in writing*, *or by means of an electronic communication device*, is to be taken as a threat, even if there is no intent of actually carrying it out, which, on its face and under the circumstances in which it is made, is so unequivocal, unconditional, immediate, and specific as to convey to the person threatened, a gravity of purpose and an immediate prospect of execution of the threat, and thereby causes that person

reasonably to be in sustained fear for his or her own safety or for his or her immediate family's safety, shall be punished by imprisonment in the county jail not to exceed one year, or by imprisonment in the state prison. (Emphasis added.)

Section 422, therefore, punishes only those threatening statements "made verbally, in writing, or by means of an electronic communication device." (Pen. Code,§422, subd. (a).)

Following routine rules of grammatical construction, the word "verbally" found in the statute is an adverb modifying the verb "made." "An adverb is a word or set of words that modifies verbs, adjectives, or other adverbs." (The Blue Book of Grammar and Punctuation, "adverb," http://www.grammarbook.com/grammar/adjAdv.asp.) Generally speaking, an adverb answers who, when, where, how, or to what extent. (*Ibid.*) With regard to section 422, the words following "statement" describe "how" the statement must be made. The statement must be made "verbally, in writing, or by means of an electronic communication device." Thus, "how" a statement must be made is unambiguous. Conduct alone is not included.

Moreover, the word "verbally" as used in section 422 is not in and of itself ambiguous. The word "verbal" is derived from the Latin *verbalis*, meaning "word." (Oxford Dictionary, "*verbal*," .) The common understanding of the word "verbal" is "of, relating to, or consisting of words." (Merriam-Webster Dictionary,

"verbal," http://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/verbal.) Not a single definition of the word verbal listed in the Merriam Webster online dictionary pertains to conduct. (*Ibid.*, [Full definition of the word "verbal" includes: of, relating to, or consisting of words, of, relating to, or involving words rather than meaning or substance, consisting of or using words only and not involving action, of, relating to, or formed from a verb, spoken rather than written, verbatim, word-for-word, of or relating to facility in the use and comprehension of words].) Indeed, one definition provided ("consisting of words only and not involving action") specifically excludes conduct. (*Ibid.*)

Numerous additional dictionaries provide similar definitions of the word "verbal." For example, Dictionary.com defines "verbal" as "of or relating to words," "consisting of or in the form of words," and "expressed in spoken words; oral rather than written." (Dictionary.com, "verbal," http://dictionary.reference.com/ browse/verbal>.) Likewise, The Free Dictionary defines "verbal" as "expressed in spoken rather than written words; oral." (The Free Dictionary, "verbal," http://www.thefreedictionary.com/verbal).)

By comparison, the common understanding of the word "conduct" is "the way that a person behaves in a particular place or situation." (Merriam-Webster Dictionary, "conduct, http://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/conduct; see

also Online Dictionary, "conduct," http://dictionary.reference.com/browse/conduct ["Conduct" means personal behavior; way of acting; bearing or deportment].)

The words the Legislature chooses to include in a statute are "the best indicators of its intent." (*Hale v. Superior Court* (2014) 225 Cal.App.4th 268, 275, citing *People v. Ramirez* (2010) 184 Cal.App.4th 1233, 1238.) Here, the Legislature chose to use the words "verbally," "in writing," and "by means of an electronic communication device" to modify and explain how a threatening statement must be made. Thus, looking to the plain language of the statute, section 422 is unambiguous and prohibits threatening statements made by the oral expression or words, the written expression of words, or words otherwise communicated through electronic communication device and not by conduct alone.

C. Even if the Words of the Statute Are Ambiguous, the Legislative History of Section 422, as Well as the Language of Related Statutes, Demonstrates That Conduct Alone Cannot Violate the Statute.

When the language of a statue is "susceptible of more than one reasonable interpretation," courts must look to a "variety of extrinsic aids, including the ostensible objects to be achieved, the evils to be remedied, the legislative history, public policy, contemporaneous administrative construction, and the statutory scheme of which the statute is a part." (*People v. Jefferson* (1999) 21 Cal.4th 86, 94.)

Looking to the legislative history of section 422, the statutes plain language, and the language as comparted with that of similar statutes, the Court of Appeal's opinion in

the instant case, allowing for the punishment of non-auditory conduct, is simply not supported.

The requirement that a criminal threat be made orally or in writing was added by amendment to section 422 in 1998. (Sen. Bill No. 1796 (1997-1998 Reg. Sess.) §3; Stats. 1998, ch. 825, §3.) The purpose of the amendment was to "clarify that [section 422] applies to threatening statements made verbally, in writing, or by means of an electronic communication device." (Ibid., emphasis added.) Prior to the amendment, the statute simply prohibited any "statement" made to be taken as a threat. (*Ibid.*) A "statement" is not necessarily limited to verbal or written communications. For example, as defined by Evidence Code section 225, a "statement" means any "oral or written verbal expression" or "nonverbal conduct of a person intended by him as a substitute for oral or written verbal expression." As explained fully above, by adding the modifying language "verbally, in writing, or by means of an electronic communication device" after the word "statement" in its 1998 amendment, the legislature made clear its intent to criminalize only those threatening statements made orally, in writing, or by electronic communication and not any nonverbal statement or gesture.

The 1998 amendment to section 422 has considerable significance. Generally speaking, "a substantial change in the language of a statute ... by an amendment indicates an intention to change its meaning." (*Mosk v. Superior Court* (1979) 25

Cal.3d 474, 493.) Moreover, "it is presumed the Legislature made changes in wording and phraseology deliberately . . . and intended different meanings when using different words." (*In re Marriage of Duffy* (2001) 91 Cal.App.4th 923, 938, internal citations omitted.) The change in language in the criminal threats statute was not subtle. To the contrary, the change was significant. By changing the specific language of the statute and by using words to modify what type of statement would violate the statute – namely statements made verbally, in writing, or by means of electronic communication device – the Legislature indicated its intention to change the definition of statement as applied to the criminal threats statute. The Legislature made clear with this amendment that the definition of statement no longer applied to nonverbal conduct.

People v. Franz, supra, 88 Cal.App.4th 1426 is currently the only published opinion addressing whether a criminal threat can be committed by mere gesture alone. Franz concluded it cannot.

That facts of *Franz* were as follows: Defendant followed his former girlfriend home, gained entry to her house, and assaulted her. He also assaulted two friends who were with her. Upon breaking away from defendant, the girlfriend called 911 and the police arrived. An officer interviewed the two friends while defendant, who was not in custody, stood behind. As the witnesses spoke to the officer, defendant looked directly at them, made hand gestures and said "shush," shook his head, and ran his

hand across his throat. After the police left, defendant told the friends not to say a word. He was convicted of making criminal threats against each of the two friends. (People v. Franz, supra, 88 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1436-1437.)

On appeal, defendant argued his convictions for criminal threats had to be reversed because insufficient evidence was presented that he made a verbal statement. The *Franz* court was called upon to determine whether nonverbal conduct could support a conviction for criminal threats under section 422. After reviewing dictionary definitions of the word "verbal," related statutes, the definition of "statement" in the Evidence Code, and even the effect of sign language, *Franz* concluded that conduct alone could not support a conviction under section 422. To the contrary, *Franz* held section 422 requires a criminal threat to be "made verbally," i.e., that defendant *orally made some noise or sound* that was capable of conveying meaning." (*People v. Franz, supra*, 88 Cal.App.4th at p. 1442, emphasis added.) *Franz* continued, "gestures, unaccompanied by verbal sound, do not qualify as verbal statements under section 422" and could not alone support a defendant's conviction for making a criminal threat. (*Id.*, at p. 1439.)

In reaching its holding, the *Franz* court first considered, then rejected, various definitions of the word "verbal." (*People v. Franz*, *supra*, 88 Cal.App.4th at p. 1440.) Because of the differing dictionary definitions of the word "verbal," *Franz* found the language of section 422 was ambiguous and turned to "other aids of interpretation"

outside the dictionary definitions. (*Ibid.*)³ For example, *Franz* reviewed other statutes, including section 646.9, subd. (g) (the "stalking" statute), and concluded the Legislature knew how "to make a statute applicable to nonverbal communication," and the omission "of any reference to 'conduct' in section 422 suggests the Legislature did not intend for communicative conduct to be penalized in that statute." (*People v. Franz, supra*, 88 Cal.App.4th at p. 1440.) *Franz* acknowledged that Evidence Code 225 defined a "[s]tatement" to include nonverbal conduct intended "as a substitute for oral or written verbal expression." (*Id.*, at p. 1441.) However, *Franz* held this definition of "statement" in the Evidence Code did not apply to the interpretation of section 422 for the following reason:

[W]hile it is true that Evidence Code section 225 provides that a "statement" may mean nonverbal conduct, it is equally true that the Evidence Code applies, "[e]xcept as otherwise provided by statute...." Here, as pertinent, section 422 expressly provides that the "statement" must be "made verbally." The Penal Code definition controls. Indeed, because Evidence Code section 225 expressly refers to "nonverbal conduct of a person intended by him as a substitute for oral or written verbal expression," the Evidence Code statute further demonstrates that the Legislature knows how to define nonverbal conduct, as a means of communication, when it wants to. (*Ibid.*)

Franz reviewed the entirety of the record and ultimately held defendant's conviction was supported by substantial evidence. Franz found defendant's "shushing" noise, heard by at least one of the witnesses, "constitute[d] substantial

Despite the contrary holding in *Franz*, respondent submits, for the reasons discussed above, that the language in section 422 is not ambiguous.

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