IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Appellant,

٧.

S223763

MARIO GONZALEZ,

Defendant and Respondent.

Fourth Appellate District, Division Two, No. E059859
Riverside County Superior Court No. INF1300854 SUPREME COURT
The Honorable William S. Lebov, Judge

AUG 17 2015

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

MICHAEL A. HESTRIN District Attorney County of Riverside

KELLI M. CATLETT Supervising Deputy District Attorney County of Riverside

3960 Orange Street Riverside, California, 92501 Telephone: (951) 955-5400

(951) 955-5704

Fax: (951) 955-9566 Email: kcatlett@rivcoda.org

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

ARGUMENT

I

SECTION 422'S USE OF THE TERM VERBAL DOES NOT REQUIRE AN AUDIBLE NOISE TO CONSTITUTE THE COMMUNICATION OF A CRIMINAL THREAT

A. The Historical Evolution Of Section 422

In 1988, section 422 was added to the Penal Code, as part of the California Street Terrorism Enforcement and Prevention Act (STEP Act), by Senate Bill No. 1555. (Stats.1988, ch. 1256, § 4; §§ 186.20 to 186.27.) The 1988 version of section 422 stated in relevant part:

Any Person who willfully threatens to commit a crime which will result in death or great bodily injury to another person, with the specific intent that the *statement* is to be taken as a threat, even if there is not intent of actually carrying it out, which, on its face and under the circumstances in which it is made is so unequivocal, unconditional, immediate, and specific as to convey to the person threatened a gravity of purpose and an immediate prospect of execution...[would be in violation of the statute].

This section was added to the STEP Act specifically to enable prosecutors to target the promulgation of gang violence by and through intimidation of the public by gang members. The STEP Act recognizes that one of the intrinsic problems in the prosecution of gang crimes is the intimidation of witnesses and the public. Such intimidation is crucial to the success of all gang crimes because it helps to prevent witnesses from coming forward and victims from reporting the crimes in the first instance. In enacting section 422 to deter this type of violence, "the Legislature declared that every person has the right to be protected from fear and intimidation. This act was in response to the growing number and severity of threats against peaceful citizens." (*People v. Martinez* (1997) 53 Cal.App.4th 1212, 1221.)

In an effort to adapt the law to changes in technology, section 422 was further amended to its present form in 1998 to include the prohibition against the use of an "electronic communication device."

Any person who willfully threatens to commit a crime which will result in death or great bodily injury to another person, with the specific intent that the statement, made verbally, in writing, or by means of an electronic communication device, is to be taken as a threat, even if there is no intent of actually carrying it out, which, on its face and under the circumstances in which it is made, is so unequivocal, unconditional, immediate, and specific as to convey to the person threatened, a gravity of purpose and an immediate prospect of execution of the threat, and thereby causes that person reasonably to be in sustained fear for his or her own safety or for his or her immediate family's safety, shall be punished by imprisonment in the county jail not to exceed one year, or by imprisonment in the state prison.

(Emphasis added.) In adopting the 1998 amendment, the Legislature did not include a definition of the newly included term "verbal."

B. The Plain Language Of Section 422 Does Not Require Any Sound

It is well established California law that when interpreting statutory language, the court's primary task is to determine and give effect to the Legislature's intent. (*People v. Arias* (2008) 45 Cal.4th 169, 177.) The first step to statutory interpretation is to "examine the words themselves because the statutory language is generally the most reliable indicator of legislative intent." (*Whaley v. Sony Computer Entertainment America, Inc.*

(2004) 121 Cal.App.4th 479, 484-485.) The court must "presume the Legislature meant what it said, and the plain meaning of the statute governs." (*People v. Martinez* (2004) 116 Cal.App.4th 753, 761.) Unless a statute includes a specifically defined meaning, "a court looks to the plain meaning of a word as understood by the ordinary person." (*Hammond v. Agran* (1999) 76 Cal.App.4th 1181, 1189; accord *People v. Massicot* (2002) 97 Cal.App.4th 920, 925-926.) The words used in the statute should be construed in context and an interpretation that leads to absurd results or renders words surplusage is to be avoided. (*People v. Loeun* (1997) 17 Cal.4th 1, 9.)

If the statutory language is clear and unambiguous, that meaning controls and there is no need for further inquiry. (*People v. Bojorquez* (2010) 183 Cal.App.4th 407, 418.) "Where the statute is clear, courts will not 'interpret away clear language in favor of an ambiguity that does not exist." (*People v. Loeun, supra*, 17 Cal.4th at p. 9.) Only if the statutory language is ambiguous may the court look outside the text to the statute's purpose and legislative history. (*Id.* at p. 1082; *People v. Arias, supra*, 45 Cal.4th at p. 177.)

If ... the language supports more than one reasonable construction, we may consider "a variety of extrinsic aids, including the ostensible objects to be achieved, the evils to be remedied, the legislative history, public policy, contemporaneous administrative construction, and the statutory scheme of which the statute is a part." Using these extrinsic aids, "we select the construction that comports most closely with the apparent intent of the Legislature, with a view to promoting rather than defeating the general purpose of the statute, and avoid an

interpretation that would lead to absurd consequences."

(People v. Bojorquez, supra, at p. 419, citations omitted.)

In light of the rules of statutory construction, the terms "statement" and "verbal," as used in section 422, have their common everyday meaning because they are not elsewhere defined in this Code section. According to Webster's 9th New Collegiate Dictionary, the common everyday meaning of the word "statement" includes, "an opinion or message conveyed indirectly or usu. Nonverbally." (Webster's 9th New Collegiate Dictionary (9th ed. 1991) at p. 1151, col. 2.) Merriam Webster's Collegiate Dictionary defines the word "verbal" as "consisting of words." (Merriam Webster's Collegiate Dictionary (10th ed. 1999) at p. 1311, col. 2.) Neither of these definitions includes any sound requirement.

Moreover, the plain language of section 422 does not include any requirement that either a statement or a verbal communication have an element of sound. Interestingly, respondent first concedes that the definition of "statement" encompasses conduct, and then asserts that because section 422 expressly states it applies to "statements, made verbally" physical conduct lacking sound is incapable of communicating a verbal statement. (OBM pp. 9-11.) Then, respondent concedes that "urban dictionary" defines the gesture of using "finger guns" as communicating words, and while the People disagree that a shooting weapon indicates "hello," or equates to "a flirtation," if it is communicative and relays those words then we do agree that it is a statement made verbally. (OBM pp. 20-21.) Despite this clear example of verbal communication, respondent goes on to claim that words must be spoken as though such a requirement equates to the need for noise. (OBM p. 9.) However, a word can be spoken without sound.

Millions of Americans do this each and every day through the use of American Sign Language, or merely by mouthing words they do not want others to hear when communicating with a select individual. Indeed, the American Sign Language Dictionary defines thousands of words made via hand sign which constitute verbal displays of language. Significantly, the American Sign Language Dictionary defines the term "gun" by the very hand sign used by respondent in threatening the lives of the victims in this case.² (American Sign Language Dict. (1st ed. 1998) at p. 196.) Thus, there is no requirement that a verbal statement be inclusive of audible sounds. To include such a requirement as respondent suggests would add an element to the statute never contemplated or intended by the Legislature.

C. Even If This Court Determines Verbal Is An Ambiguous Term, The Legislative History Behind Section 422 Demonstrates An Intent To Include Non-Audible Communicative Behavior

The legislative intent behind both the original enactment of section 422 and the STEP Act in 1988 and the legislative intent behind the adoption of the 1998 amendment, clearly articulate that the purpose of the statutory scheme is to prevent the intimidation of witnesses and the public. The 1998 amendment did not change this original intent, instead the Legislature sought to amend section 422 to include electronic communication devices, in keeping with technological advancements and *not* to restrict the pre-amendment language of the section. (Sen. Bill No. 1796 (1997-1998 Reg. Sess.) Stats 1998, ch. 825, § 1, italics added.)

² The sign for gun is described as, "[Demonstrates pulling back the hammer on a pointed gun] With the index finger of the right *L hand* pointing forward in front of the right side of the body, palm facing left, wiggle the thumb up and down with a repeated movement." (American Sign Language Dict. at p. 196.)

Prior to the 1998 amendment, section 422 simply included the term statement. Thus, since the term statement was the qualifier for conduct violative of section 422 prior to the 1998 amendment, and the Legislature did not intend to decriminalize statements but merely to ensure verbal, written and electronic communications were encompassed by the statute, a mere statement is still sufficient to violate section 422. Indeed, the Legislature expressly stated the sole purpose of the bill was to add to and not reduce the actions punishable by this statute. To that end, the digest in the bill analysis provided to the Legislature in preparation for the vote to enact the 1998 amendments expressly states, "[t]his bill would add threats or annoying communications made by electronic communication, such as through the Internet, to existing statutes prohibiting threats or annoying communications by other means." (Sen. Bill No. 1796 (1997-1998 Reg. Sess.) Stats 1998 Senate Floor Bill Analysis 8/23/1998.) Any analysis of the usage of the term verbal should take this intent into consideration.

Respondent inappropriately asks this Court not to apply the intent of this legislative history to its analysis of section 422, but instead to conduct a comparative analysis of the history behind an amendment to section 76, threats against public officials, and apply that to interpret section 422. The basis of respondent's argument is that, although section 76 was not amended in SB 1796, it was amended in 1998 and included a definition of the term "threat" which specifically criminalizes threatening conduct. This request is nonsensical because mere conduct is not at issue here.

It has consistently been the People's position that respondent's actions constituted verbal communication, made up of gestures, which when viewed in context, formed a verbal communication. As such, the People assert that verbal communication can be effectuated without the emission of sound, not that mere conduct is the equivalent of communication. Consequently, respondent's arguments regarding the

inclusion or exclusion of criminal conduct in section 422 as compared to section 76 are irrelevant. The People are not asking this Court to find that a pattern of conduct alone violates section 422. While conduct alone, such as stalking, i.e. following someone around and watching them would violate the stalking statutes and section 76, it would not communicate a threat as required by section 422. This is why the People are not asking this Court to include conduct in section 422; rather, the People are seeking affirmation that communication in the form of non-auditory gestures can be a criminal threat.

D. Respondent's reliance on People v. Franz, Is Misplaced

Prior to this case, the only published decisions which discuss the "verbal" requirement of the statute even tangentially were People v. Mendoza (1997) 59 Cal. App. 4th 1333, and People v. Franz (2001) 88 Cal. App. 4th 1426. The concurring opinion in *People v. Mendoza* (1997) 59 Cal. App. 4th 1333, stated that "section 422 does not require the threat be literal or even verbal. Sending a government informant a dead, tongueless rat may well violate section 422." (Franz, supra, 88 Cal.App.4th at p. 1347.) The Court of Appeal here correctly determined that the comments in the concurring opinion in *Mendoza* are significant because of the stated legislative intent in the 1998 amendment that the purpose was to add threats by electronic communication devices and not to restrict the pre-amendment language in anyway. As a result, the Court of Appeal here appropriately held that while "the statement made in *Mendoza*, supra, 49 Cal.App.4th 1333, was in a concurring opinion, it makes sense." (Slip Opn. p. 12.) "[I]f the communication, by whatever means, was intended to convey and did convey an unequivocal, unconditional, immediate, and specific threat of great bodily injury or death, the statute has been violated." (*Ibid.* citing *Mendoza*, *supra*, 49 Cal.App.4th at p. 1347.)

The only other published decision addressing the term verbal in section 422, People v. Franz, supra, 88 Cal. App. 4th 1426, conducted a flawed statutory analysis and reached an illogical conclusion. In Franz, the defendant, who had a long history of domestic violence with the victim, was convicted of a violation of section 422. The conviction was a result of Franz making a slashing motion across his throat and a shushing sound communicating to the victim that if she talked to the police officer (who was present when the threat was made) he would harm her. While the predominate issue in the Franz case was whether or not the presence of the officer affected the defendant's ability to carry out the threat immediately as required by the elements of section 422, the *Franz* court also analyzed whether or not the shushing sound the defendant made when slicing his hand across his throat was sufficient to satisfy the verbal statement requirement of section 422. Ultimately, the Franz Court stated in dicta that a slashing motion across one's neck was not, by itself, a threat sufficient to establish a violation of section 422, but that slashing accompanied by the shushing sound was sufficient to satisfy the requisite elements. (People v. Franz, supra, 88 Cal.App.4th at p. 1442.)

In so doing, the *Franz* Court seemingly found that in enacting the 1998 amendment to section 422 the Legislature intended to create an auditory requirement for the threat to satisfy the statute. To achieve this end, the *Franz* Court conducted a brief statutory construction analysis and determined that there was an auditory requirement within the elements of section 422. Then, based on the false premise that the 1998 amendment added a sound element to section 422, the *Franz* Court dismissed the analysis by the Court in *Mendoza*, and opined that a non-auditory statement alone was no longer sufficient to violate the statute.

In conducting its flawed analysis, the court acknowledged and rejected the well-established definition of statement in Evidence Code

section 225,³ which includes conduct intended to replace verbal communication as sufficient to supplant the need for auditory verbal utterances. Rather than analyzing the interplay between Evidence Code section 225 and section 422, addressing the legislative intent underlying the enactment of the 1998 amendment to section 422, or evaluating the common definition of a verbal statement, the *Franz* court merely opined that the existence of Evidence Code section 225 demonstrated that the Legislature could have included this definition of "verbal communication" in section 422 had it so desired. (*Franz*, *supra*, 88 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1441-1442.)

Oddly, this analysis disregards not only the legislative intent behind the enactment of section 422, but the rule of statutory construction which states that there is a duty to harmonize all statutes giving effect to all parts of all statutes whenever possible. (*People v. Superior Court (Cooper)* (2003) 114 Cal.App.4th 713, 720.) In its treatment of Evidence Code section 225, the *Franz* court failed to harmonize the statutes, resulting in a flawed analysis which failed to consider the situation such as that presented here where there is clear communication of an imminent threat through contextualized verbal conduct without an auditory component.

Furthermore, the *Franz* court also neglected to address the legislative intent and public policy underlying the enactment of the STEP Act in deterring gang violence as it applies to section 422. Instead, the *Franz* court determined that a comparative analysis between section 422 and the stalking statute was appropriate because they were simultaneously enacted in 1988. To that end, the *Franz* court determined that because the Legislature added the term "conduct" to the stalking statute but did not

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